
Meeting papers

Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee

Tuesday 3 December 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester





Date Published:25 November 2019     

Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee

Tuesday 3 December 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSON 

To elect a Chairperson for the meeting.

Andrea Clarke

2  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Andrea Clarke

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

Andrea Clarke

4  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

To answer any written questions about matters which are within the 
powers and duties of the committee.

The closing date/time for receipt of written questions is 6.00pm on 27 
November 2019. Please send questions to the Democratic Services Unit, 
marked for the attention of Andrea Clarke (email: 
andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk).  

Chair

5  MEMBER QUESTIONS 

To answer any written members’ questions about matters which are within 
the powers and duties of the committee. The closing date/time for the 
receipt of questions is 6.00pm on 27 November 2019. Please send 
questions to the Democratic Services Unit marked for the attention of 
Andrea Clarke (email: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chair

6  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 14)

The committee to agree the minutes of the meeting on Tuesday 12 
February 2019, and to note the notes of the meetings on 18 June 2019 
and 8 October 2019.

Andrea Clarke

7  FUTURE WASTE PARTNERSHIP TERMS OF REFERENCE (Pages 15 - 
28)

Wayne Lewis

mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

8  MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTS MONITORING REPORT (Pages 29 - 40) Wayne Lewis

9  SERVICE/ACTION PLAN UPDATE (Pages 41 - 46) Wayne Lewis

Membership –  Cllr Nigel Moor (Gloucestershire County Council) and Cllr Lynden Stowe 
(Gloucestershire County Council) Cllr Chris Coleman (Cheltenham Borough Council), 
Andrew Doherty (Cotswold District Council), Cllr Jim Mason (Tewkesbury Borough Council), 
Cllr Andy Moore (Forest of Dean District Council), Cllr Dennis Parsons (Cheltenham Borough 
Council), Cllr Sid Phelps (Forest of Dean District Council) and Cllr Mark Williams (Tewkesbury 
Borough Council)

Co-Opted Members - Cllr George Butcher (Stroud District Council), Cllr Richard Cook (Gloucester 
City Council), Cllr Simon Pickering (Stroud District Council) and Cllr Terry Pullen (Gloucester City 
Council)

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Jane Burns  01452 328472, email 
jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324203/fax: 425850/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

(c) Co-opted Members
Gloucester City and Stroud District Councils may each nominate up to two Co-opted 
Members to attend and participate in the Committee’s meetings. Co-opted Members may 
take a full part in public debate where they are present, but may not vote.  In the event of 
the Committee discussing confidential “exempt” non–public items the general presumption 
is that co-opted members shall leave the meeting, although should a co-opted member 
make a case to stay, this may be waived at the Chairman’s discretion provided no voting 
member raises an objection. Co-opted Members may, in such circumstances, be asked to 
leave the meeting while the Chairman seeks views from Voting Members.

(d) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Members are asked to sign the attendance list.
2. Substitution of members – Where a substitute member takes the place of a 

committee member who is an executive member of the appointing partner authority 
the substitute member must also be a member of the executive.

3. Quorum - The quorum for a meeting shall be five committee members, which shall 
include at least one member appointed by each of the five different partner 
authorities. No business shall be transacted unless quorum is reached. If quorum is 
not reached within 30 minutes of the start of the meeting, (or if quorum ceases to be 
present during a meeting), the meeting shall be adjourned to the same time and 
venue within five working days of the meeting or to a date determined by the 

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

Chairman.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE JOINT WASTE COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee held on Tuesday 
12 February 2019 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr George Butcher
Cllr Sue Coakley
Cllr Richard Cook
Cllr Bruce Hogan
Cllr Jim Mason

Cllr Chris McFarling
Cllr Nigel Moor
Cllr Terry Pullen
Cllr Ray Theodoulou

Apologies: Cllr Chris Coleman, Cllr Simon Pickering and Cllr Mark Williams

75. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No additional declarations made.

76. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

No public questions received.

77. MEMBER QUESTIONS 

No member questions received.

78. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING - 4 DECEMBER 2018 

The minutes were agreed and signed as a correct record.

79. BUSINESS PLAN 2019-22 

79.1 Wayne Lewis, Head of Joint Waste Management, introduced the report by 
explaining its purpose was to set out a clear plan for the 2019/22 period, 
provide a draft budget to support the work of the Committee and support its 
decision making in accordance with the Inter-Authority Agreement.

79.2 Members attention was drawn to appendix 2 which outlined challenges 
facing the Committee going forward. They were informed that the Committee 
faced many external pressures and uncertainty with Brexit, growing global 
concern around plastic and food waste, and budget restraints.

79.3 Appendix 3 was also highlighted which set out timescales for the action plan 
up until 2022 including; Javelin Park mobilisation arrangements and 
Cheltenham’s departure from the partnership.

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

79.4 A member stressed their disappointment that the plan lacked an overall goal 
of reducing waste in Gloucestershire. It was highlighted that the amount of 
recycling had increased but overall waste being produced had also 
increased.

79.5 A request was made that page 13 on Appendix 3 row 1.4 was amended as it 
should read October 2019 not October 2020.

79.6 The Business Plan 2019-22 was agreed.

80. RESIDUAL WASTE TREATMENT AND WASTE TRANSFER UPDATE 

Wayne Lewis, Head of Joint Waste Management, outlined the report and members 
noted.

81. TIPPING AWAY POLICY 

81.1 Andy Pritchard, Strategy & Development Manager, presented the findings of 
the GCC consultation regarding future adoption of a policy for the tipping 
away of waste outside district collection areas. The consultation was carried 
out with districts from November to January this year and was in response to 
a Cabinet decision in October 2018.

81.2 The purpose of the consultation was to test the application of a formula 
developed by the National Association of Waste Disposal Officers and to 
highlight any concerns. It was noted that no response was received from 
Gloucester City or Stroud District.

81.3 Members were informed that all districts Councils who made representations 
to the consultation highlighted the following similar concerns:
 The model should allow full cost recovery;
 It should be flexible to take account of different routes and vehicle types 

etc.
 It should also take account of external factors such as traffic congestion; 

and
 All respondents requested to be involved in agreeing the data used when 

arriving at a payment level.

81.4 It was concluded that the next stage was for GCC to review all consultation 
submissions before reaching a decision on the adoption of a tipping away 
policy.

81.5 Following discussions, the Committee agreed that even though the final 
decision would lie with the Cabinet at GCC, it would be useful for the 
members to be updated. Committee member and Cabinet member for 
Environment and Planning Cllr Nigel Moor, confirmed this would be 
appropriate for the next meeting.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

81.6 There were several comments from members concerning what method 
would be most practical for different areas to deliver waste to Javelin Park, 
and the costs associated. In response, the Chair confirmed that this item was 
a theoretical paper on a compensation formula for waste delivery not a 
practical perspective of how this was going to be done.

81.7 A member stressed that the model should promote the best transfer option 
for each area, both economically and environmentally. It was highlighted that 
there may well be suitable economic reasons for districts to use a particular 
method but the environmental impact may be much greater. In response 
officers confirmed there was no ‘off the shelf model’ for determining whether 
waste transfer is needed, each would be dealt with on a case by case basis, 
on those specific circumstances. The Tipping Away policy would provide an 
agreed approach for making payments in instances where a WCA was 
directed to tip beyond its boundary and where waste transfer was not 
provided.

81.8 It was pointed out that Gloucestershire wouldn’t be the only area faced with 
similar issues outlined above. If this formula is well established in other 
authorities; there should be an opportunity to consult and see how others 
have addressed these issues. This suggestion was welcomed by officers.

82. NATIONAL WASTE AND RESOURCES STRATEGY 

82.1 Andy Pritchard, Strategy & Development Manager, gave a brief overview of 
the report. It was explained that in December the Government published a 
new national strategy with a thorough direction of travel on public policy 
relating to resources and waste. 

82.2 It was emphasised that this would have fairly significant impact as it sets an 
ambition for the UK to become a world leader in using resources efficiently 
and in reducing the amount of waste created. It was also pointed out that the 
strategy re-instated the commitment to eliminating plastic waste within the 
next 25 years and eliminating all avoidable wastes for 2050.

82.3 Member’s attention was drawn to the following specific points of the strategy:
 the introduction of a tax on plastic packaging which contains less than 

30% recycled plastic;
 a strengthening of regulations on producers, building upon the ‘polluter 

pays’ principle;
 the reforming of waste crime regulations;
 the commitment to reducing food waste; and 
 section 3 which perhaps has the most impact on local authorities.

82.4 A member welcomed the new approach on measuring progress. They felt it 
was an important move to consider impact based targets. The Committee 
also welcomed the increased emphasis on those producing excess plastics 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

taking responsibility for recycling/disposing of them. Manufacturers have 
historically placed this burden on the local authorities.

82.5 Several members raised concerns that some of the suggestions could have 
a significant cost implication on local authorities, and potentially the tax 
payer. The Committee were informed that officers from the Joint Waste 
Team had attended workshops in the development stages of the strategy, 
and were encouraged to here local authority views had been taken into 
account throughout the process. 

82.6 As stated in the report, there were three streams up for consultation this 
year; Extended Producer Responsibility, Deposit Return Scheme and 
Consistent Collection Systems. Officers recommended drafting a response 
for approval by the Committee to these 3 consultations as they potentially 
hold a significant impact for local government if adopted. Members agreed 
that these responses should be reviewed at the next meeting of the 
Committee (or as the national consultations might dictate).

83. 2018/21 ACTION PLAN UPDATE 

83.1 Wayne Lewis, Head of Joint Waste Management, presented an update to 
the Committee on progress made against the 2018/21 action plan. The 
request to extend the completion date on project 5.1 was highlighted.

83.2 Overall, members welcomed the good progress made by the team against 
each action point. A discussion followed on appendix 2 which referred to a 
current high level risk relating to budget monitoring and expenditure by 
Ubico.

83.3 Members raised questions regarding Ubico’s involvement in the planning 
process for new developments. It was highlighted that being unware of new 
developments beforehand, and thus being able to incorporate the additional 
need into their financial plan, may be leading to the financial risks and 
disruption to long-term planning outlined in the report.

83.4 In response, members were assured that both the Joint Waste Team and 
Ubico were consulted on new planning developments, and also that 
guidance was in place for developers on waste management requirements.

83.5 It was noted however, that there are increasing situations where developers 
are not sticking to the plans agreed. Local authorities increasingly need to 
take enforcement action where development varies from the submitted 
plans.

84. MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTS MONITORING REPORT 

Wayne Lewis, Head of Joint Waste Management, outlined the report and members 
noted.

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

85. QUARTER 3 PERFORMANCE MONITORING 

85.1 Andy Pritchard, Strategy and Development Manager, gave a brief overview 
of the report and members noted the following points:

 There has been an increase in overall waste by around 2.5%;
 the majority of this waste however has been recycled;
 the kilograms per household of waste has reduced, this is slight but is 

going in the right direction;
 garden waste tonnage was slightly down this year but that is due to the 

dry summer we experienced; and
 the County performance on recycling has improved from last year, 

consistently heading towards the 60% target.

85.2 Members noticed there has been an increase in food waste capture and a 
discussion was held on how food waste could best be tackled. 

85.3 In response, members were advised that as a starting point, where there is 
food waste it is much better that it is recycled rather than going into residual 
waste. Secondly, it was accepted that more work needs to be done to make 
sure all prevention and reuse/redistribution measures are exhausted before 
we end up with food waste at all.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 11:15.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE JOINT WASTE COMMITTEE
NOTES of the meeting of the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee held on Tuesday 18 June 
2019 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Chris Coleman
Cllr Richard Cook
Andrew Doherty
Cllr Andy Moore

Cllr Nigel Moor
Cllr Sid Phelps
Cllr Lynden Stowe

Apologies: Cllr Jim Mason and Cllr Mark Williams

Officers in attendance: Julie Davies, Wayne Lewis, Andy Pritchard, Roger Smith and Scott
Williams, Gareth Edmundson (Ubico)

86. ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSON 
The required quorum for meetings of the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee is that 
there be five committee members in attendance, which shall include at least one member 
appointed by each of the five different partner authorities. On 18 June 2019 no 
representative from Tewkesbury Council was in attendance which meant that a quorum had 
not been reached.

Members from all other partner authorities, a co-opted member, and officers from across the 
Joint Waste Team and the district councils were in attendance. Partner authority members 
therefore agreed to proceed with the published agenda items, and that notes of the meeting 
be produced for information. The Democratic Services Officer present agreed with this 
approach. 

As this was now an informal meeting the minutes of the previous meeting could not be 
formally received and agreed. Public and Member questions could also not be received 
(although it is important to note that none were received by the published deadline).

Given that the meeting was not quorate a Chairperson for this meeting only was elected. 
The formal appointment of committee Chairperson and Vice Chairperson would be 
addressed at the committee’s meeting on 8 October 2019.

Cllr Nigel Moor was elected Chairperson for this meeting.

87. ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRPERSON 
Please see the note above.

88. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Please see the note above.

89. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING - 12 FEBRUARY 2019 
Please see the note above.

90. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
Please see the note above.

Page 7



- 2 -

91. MEMBER QUESTIONS 
Please see the note above.

92. COMMITTEE REVIEW OF FUTURE OPTIONS 
The final report of the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee Partnership: Review of Future 
Options had not yet been shared with members (it was emailed to all committee members 
on 24 June 2019). John Enright, Project Director, Local Partnerships, brought the meeting 
up to date with activity since the committee’s discussions on this matter at the workshop on 
30 April 2019. The presentation slides from the workshop were sent to the new members of 
the committee for information (19 June 2019). 

At the workshop on 30 April 2019 it had become clear that there remained a commitment to 
partnership working; but that this did not necessarily need to be through a formal committee 
structure. 

Wayne Lewis, Head of Joint Waste Team, informed the meeting that he was in the process 
of setting up monthly meetings with the Senior Managers Group in order to develop the 
structure of a future partnership, including identifying key workstreams, aims and objectives. 
In particular identifying common issues that would be best addressed together.

In response to a question the Cheltenham Cabinet Member for Clean and Green 
Environment outlined the reasons for his decision to advise Cheltenham Borough Council to 
withdraw from the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee.

The Managing Director, Ubico Limited, indicated that he had not as yet had an opportunity to 
contribute to this discussion. However he was able to inform the meeting that Ubico were 
supportive of working in partnership.

It was commented that it was important to differentiate between the delivery of the waste 
agenda and the politics surrounding it.

The meeting agreed to support tasking the Senior Managers Group to develop proposals for 
the future role and structure of a Gloucestershire wide waste partnership, and that a draft 
proposal be brought to the committee meeting on 8 October 2019. The Senior Manager 
Group would liaise as appropriate with all Gloucestershire local authorities in developing 
proposals, with current non-voting members of the joint committee invited to participate in 
the work. 
(Governance note: Although this was not a quorate committee meeting given the short time 
frame for this work all members present agreed that this work must proceed at pace. The 
Democratic Services Officer present agreed with this approach.)

93. REVIEW OF FOOD WASTE AGREEMENTS 
Wayne Lewis, Head of Joint Waste Team, presented the report. He drew attention to the 
points at paragraph 2.1 in the report that agreements should:-

• Be equitable; 
• Reward good performance;  
• Incentivise continuous improvement; and  
• Acknowledge that different levels of performance may result from social 

demographic factors.
The Head of the Joint Waste Team would develop proposals in consultation with the Senior 
Managers Group.

It was agreed that an update report would be received at the 8 October 2019 meeting.

Page 8



- 3 -

The meeting noted the report.

94. RESIDUAL WASTE TREATMENT UPDATE 
The meeting noted the report.

95. ACTION PLAN UPDATE 
The Head of the Joint Waste Team informed the meeting that it was important to bear in 
mind that the development of a new waste partnership structure would impact on the 
timeline for some of this work. The focus going forward, would be on business critical 
matters.

The committee noted the report.

96. GARDEN WASTE BULKING, TRANSFER AND COMPOSTING PROVISION 
Andy Pritchard, Strategy and Development Manager, gave a detailed presentation of the 
report. 

There was a shared concern about the cost implications for the district councils dependent 
upon the location of the treatment sites and transfer stations; in particular whether this factor 
was included in the evaluation criteria for the bids. It was agreed that the procurement team 
would consider this issue.

The meeting noted the report.

97. MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTS PROVISIONAL OUTTURN 2018/19 REPORT AND 
THE APPROVED 2019/20 REVENUE BUDGET 
The Head of the Joint Waste Team presented the report. 

Questions were asked with regard to the potential for developer contributions for waste 
collection receptacles. It was established that Tewkesbury Borough Council did have a 
standard approach to developers and had received contributions. The other district councils 
had not been as successful as yet. It was agreed that it would be helpful for the committee to 
receive a report on this matter at the meeting on 8 October 2019.

The meeting noted the report.

98. PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR 2018/19 
The Strategy and Development Manager gave a detailed presentation of the report.

In response to a question it was clarified that there were no bidders for the contract for the 
collection and recycling of hard plastic from HRC sites; this has been the position for many 
years.

The meeting noted the report.

99. HEALTH AND SAFETY REPORT FOR 2018-19 
Julie Davies, Environment and Waste Policy Officer, presented the report.

It was agreed that it would be helpful to include figures for Stroud District and Gloucester 
City Councils to gain a clearer picture of the position across the county. Representatives 
from these councils agreed that they were happy to provide this information.

The meeting noted the report.

Page 9



- 4 -

Meeting concluded at 11.45 am

Page 10



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE JOINT WASTE COMMITTEE
NOTES of a meeting of the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee held on Tuesday 8 October 
2019 at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Cllr Richard Cook
Andrew Doherty
Cllr Jim Mason
Cllr Andy Moore
Cllr Nigel Moor

Cllr Sid Phelps
Cllr Simon Pickering
Cllr Terry Pullen
Cllr Lynden Stowe
Cllr Mark Williams

Officers in attendance: Colin Chick, Wayne Lewis, Andy Pritchard, Scott Williams, Claire 
Locke, Julie Davies, Rachel Capon, Mike Towson, Karen Watson, 
Dawn Fearn, Gareth Edmundson (Ubico)

Apologies: Cllr Chris Coleman

100. ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSON 
The required quorum for meetings of the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee is that 
there be five committee members in attendance, which shall include at least one member 
appointed by each of the five different partner authorities. On 8 October 2019 no 
representative from Cheltenham Borough Council was in attendance which meant that a 
quorum had not been reached. 

Members from all other partner authorities, co-opted members, and officers from across the 
Joint Waste Team and the district councils were in attendance. Partner authority members 
therefore agreed to proceed with the published agenda items, and that notes of the 
meeting be produced for information. 

As this was now an informal meeting the minutes and notes of previous meetings could not 
be formally received and agreed. Public and Member questions could also not be received 
(although it is important to note that none were received by the published deadline). Given 
that the meeting was not quorate a Chairperson for this meeting only was elected. 

Members were reminded that the meeting scheduled for 3 December 2019 would be the 
final meeting of the committee and that it would be important for there to be a quorum at 
that meeting.

Cllr Nigel Moor was elected Chairperson for this meeting.

101. ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRPERSON 
Please see Note 100.

102. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Please see Note 100.

103. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
Please see Note 100.

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

104. MEMBER QUESTIONS 
Please see Note 100.

105. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
Please see Note 100.

106. FUTURE WASTE PARTNERSHIP PROPOSAL 
Wayne Lewis, Head of Joint Waste Team, gave a detailed presentation of the report which 
set out the proposals for the new Gloucestershire Resources and Waste Partnership. 

Members endorsed the principles set out in the report but did agree that it would be better 
to state that this was about sustainability rather than just a growth agenda. It was important 
to note that the new arrangements meant that the statutory duties would return to the 
partner authorities. 

It was noted that Stroud District Council (SDC) have a committee rather than executive 
system and that the representative from SDC on the new partnership would therefore need 
to be the relevant committee chair. It was also agreed that it would be helpful for Ubico to 
be invited to partnership meetings.

It was agreed that it would be important to ensure that the funding streams and resource 
allocations were transparent. 

Although the meeting was not quorate the meeting was not being asked to make any 
decisions in this regard, but rather to make recommendations. It was therefore agreed that: 
 The Senior Management Group should finalise the proposals and develop terms of 

reference for the new Gloucestershire Resources and Waste Partnership; 
 Each of the Gloucestershire local authorities should consider the terms of reference 

and agree to join the new Gloucestershire Resources and Waste Partnership by 
13th December 2019; and 

 Gloucestershire County Council (GCC), Forest of Dean District Council and 
Tewkesbury Borough Council complete the transfer of Joint Waste Team (JWT) 
staff as set out in section 2.7 this report by 13th December 2019.

107. FOOD WASTE AGREEMENTS 
Wayne Lewis, Head of Joint Waste Team, gave a detailed presentation of the report. It was 
noted that a further decision on this matter would be taken by the county council Cabinet in 
December 2019; this would take the form of a written agreement. 

A presentation slide, showing indicative payments at different unit rates, was shared with 
the meeting.

Whilst it was acknowledged that it was positive to incentivise good practice, there was a 
view that some local authorities were in effect being disadvantaged due to the demographic 
factors. It was acknowledged that each authority had different challenges and that the final 
mechanism agreed should be fair, rather than being in apposition where each authority was 
fighting their own corner.

It was noted that work was still in process checking the data; it was important to reflect 
whether assumptions made were correct.

The county council Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning, would take members’ 
comments to Cabinet when this matter would be discussed later in the year.

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

108. TIPPING AWAY POLICY 
Andy Pritchard, Joint Waste Team, gave a detailed presentation of the report. The county 
council Cabinet was meeting to consider the adoption of a waste tipping away policy at its 
meeting on 9 October 2019. Comments from today’s meeting would be shared with 
Cabinet on 9 October 2019. 

It was important to note that this policy would be applied on a case by case basis. 

Andy Pritchard noted members comments for the Cabinet meeting on 9 October 2019.

109. SERVICE/ACTION PLAN UPDATE 
Members noted the report.

110. RESIDUAL WASTE UPDATE 
Members noted the report.

111. MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTS FINAL OUTTURN 2018/19 
Members noted the report.

112. MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTS MONITORING REPORT 
Members noted the report.

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 11.55am

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Resources and Waste Partnership Proposal

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee Date 3rd December 2019

Significant 
Decision

No

Responsible 
Officers

Wayne Lewis, Head of Joint Waste Team, 01452 425504, 
wayne.lewis@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Main Consultees Voting and non-voting members of the Gloucestershire Joint Waste 
Committee (GJWC). 

Purpose of Report The purpose of this report is to update members on work by the Senior 
Managers Group (SMG) to develop the new Resources and Waste 
Partnership that is proposed to maintain a framework for partnership 
working in waste and resources matters across Gloucestershire.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Committee:

a) Notes the draft terms of reference for the new Gloucestershire 
Resources and Waste Partnership at appendix 1; 

b) Notes the timeline for each of the Gloucestershire local 
authorities to consider the terms of reference and reach a 
decision on joining the new Gloucestershire Resources and 
Waste Partnership (appendix 2); and

c) Notes progress by Gloucestershire County Council (GCC), 
Forest of Dean District Council and Tewkesbury Borough 
Council in completing the transfer of Joint Waste Team (JWT) 
staff. 

Resource 
Implications

There are no direct costs resulting from this report.

Page 15

Agenda Item 7

mailto:wayne.lewis@gloucestershire.gov.uk


1. Background

1.1 The Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee (GJWC) ends on 13th December 
2019. At its meeting in October 2019 (agenda item 8) members of the GJWC agreed 
that officers from its Senior Managers Group (SMG) should develop terms of reference 
for a new Gloucestershire Resources and Waste Partnership. These have been 
developed and are attached at appendix 1. 
 
1.2 The GJWC members present at the October 2019 meeting agreed to 
recommend to each of the Gloucestershire local authorities that they consider the terms 
of reference and agree to join the new Gloucestershire Resources and Waste 
Partnership. A timeline setting out when each local authority either has or will consider 
this matter is set out in appendix 2. Agreement to join is already in place at Cotswold 
District Council, Forest of Dean District Council and Tewkesbury Borough Council (with 
the finalisation of the terms of reference delegated to officers). Decisions are yet to be 
taken at the Cheltenham Borough Council, Gloucester City Council, Gloucestershire 
County Council or Stroud District Council. 

1.3 Decisions have been made by Forest of Dean District Council (FoDDC) and 
Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC) to transfer Joint Waste Team staff from 
Gloucestershire County Council to their respective councils. This involves the transfer 
of three members of staff to FoDDC and one member of staff to TBC. Consultation with 
staff and trade unions is underway, ahead of the anticipated completion of this transfer 
on 13th December 2019. 

2. Development of the Gloucestershire Resources and Waste Partnership

2.1Future Meetings and Work Planning

2.1.1 When decisions have been reached by each of the Gloucestershire local 
authorities that have been invited to join the new Resources and Waste Partnership 
(and assuming that the said authorities decide to join), an inaugural meeting of the new 
partnership will be convened. SMG officers will present an outline partnership work plan 
for discussion and agreement by members. Key projects are likely to include the 
development of a new Resources and Waste Strategy for Gloucestershire (replacing 
the current Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy) and the development of a 
partnership Projects and Communication Plan, which will allocate funding from the 
proposed Partnership and Communications Fund. Nominations for the appointment of a 
chair and vice-chair of the partnership will also be sought at this meeting. 

2.1.2 The future partnership meetings will provide an opportunity to develop a common 
understanding of the purpose and objectives of the new partnership and to discuss how 
members can best deliver its vision of responding to the climate emergency by working 
together to promote resource efficiency and sustainable, safe and cost effective waste 
management.

2.1.3 The proposed partnership also provides a forum for discussing and reaching 
consensus on current or emerging Resources and Waste issues; both locally and 
nationally. Consideration can also be given as to whether any external speakers should 
be invited to attend meetings, and if so, the subject areas that might be most beneficial 
to cover. 

Page 16



Appendix 1 – Draft Terms of Reference

Gloucestershire Resources and Waste Partnership
Terms of Reference

(Version 0.5: November 2019)

1. Member Councils
1.1. The membership of the Gloucestershire Resources and Waste Partnership (the “GRWP”) is 

comprised of the following councils:

 GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL (the “Waste Disposal Authority” / “WDA”); 

and the following district councils of Gloucestershire (the “Waste Collection Authorities” / 

“WCAs”):

 CHELTENHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL; 

 COTSWOLD DISTRICT COUNCIL; 

 FOREST OF DEAN DISTRICT COUNCIL; 

 GLOUCESTER CITY COUNCIL; 

 STROUD DISTRICT COUNCIL; and 

 TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL.

2. Vision
2.1 The vision of the GRWP is as follows:

“We will respond to our climate emergency, conserve natural resources and protect our 

environment by working together to promote resource efficiency and provide sustainable, 

safe and cost effective waste management.”

3. Purpose
3.1 The purpose of the GRWP is to provide countywide leadership and a framework for joint 

working between its Council Members on resources and waste related matters. The GRWP has 

been formed to carry out the strategic, financial and operational functions set out in paragraph 

7 hereof.

4. Status
1.1. The GRWP supports its Member Councils by providing a forum which considers the 

development and implementation of the Gloucestershire Resources and Waste Strategy. 

1.2. The GRWP is not an entity created by statute, hence it does not itself have any statutory 

powers, functions or duties, nor is it under any statutory obligation pursuant to the Local 

Government Act 1972 to hold meetings in public or to provide public access to meetings.  

However, minutes of GRWP meetings will nevertheless be published on the Gloucestershire 

County Council website.

Page 17



5. Principles
1.1. The Council Members shall comply with the following shared principles:

1.1.1. To treat waste as a resource and ensure that it is managed in accordance with the waste 

hierarchy;

1.1.2. To work in partnership with each other in order to continuously improve waste 

management services within Gloucestershire;

1.1.3. To plan the development of future services together and consult with one another 

ahead of service changes; and 

1.1.4. To ensure waste management services are cost effective and minimise the overall cost 

to Gloucestershire taxpayers. 

6. Objectives
1.1. The objectives of the GRWP are as follows:

  To help the residents of Gloucestershire to live more sustainably;

  To promote a circular economy, where waste is avoided and materials are kept in 

continual use;

  To promote more sustainable production;

  To improve local environmental quality;

  To deliver high quality, safe and affordable waste management services; and

  To measure the GRWP’s progress in relation to the above objectives.

as described more particularly in Annex 1 to these Terms of Reference.

7. Functions
1.1. The functions of the GRWP are as follows:

1.1.1. Strategic Functions
1.1.1.1. To develop a strategic policy framework within which each Council Member can 

each discharge its statutory functions as a WDA or (as appropriate) as WCA.

1.1.1.2. To discharge Member Councils’ responsibilities in relation to county-wide 

communication and promotional activities, public engagement, research and 

technical evaluations.

1.1.1.3. To develop proposals for the future development of waste management in 

Gloucestershire that achieves the above-mentioned GRWP objectives.

1.1.2. Financial Functions
1.1.1.1. To agree a draft budget for each forthcoming financial year to include the 

proposed contribution (if any) from each Member Council, for consideration by 

the GRWP.

Page 18



1.1.1.2. To oversee the operation of any joint projects and plans (such as joint 

communications) agreed between the Member Councils and then monitor the 

effectiveness of these arrangements.

1.1.1.3. To make recommendations to the Member Councils regarding any resources 

that might be required from them to meet the above-mentioned GRWP 

objectives.

1.1.3. Operational Functions
1.1.1.1. To develop a Joint Resources and Waste Strategy for Gloucestershire, for 

approval by the Member Councils, which shall contain the strategic priorities 

and policies for the management of waste within Gloucestershire;

1.1.1.2. To implement such Joint Resources and Waste Strategy for Gloucestershire 

once approved by the Member Councils.

1.1.1.3. To prepare and deliver an annual action plan and communications plan that is 

intended to deliver the objectives set out in paragraph 6 hereof for approval by 

the Member Councils.

1.1.1.4. To continuously seek more efficient ways of delivering the GRWP’s objectives, 

including (without limitation) opportunities for joint procurement, asset sharing 

and shared service arrangements between the Council Members.

1.1.1.5. To commission work, research and surveys into matters relevant to the GRWP 

objectives set out in paragraph 6 hereto.

1.1.1.6. To issue such press releases and carry out such communications work as the 

GRWP deems necessary for the furtherance of the GRWP objectives.

1.1.1.7. To carry out such other activities that are intended to facilitate, or which are 

conducive or incidental to, the discharge of the GRWP functions set out in this 

paragraph 7. 

8. Representation and Composition of GRWP Board
1.1. Two representatives may be appointed by each Member Council (each a “Representative”) to 

the GRWP Board with at least one such Representative for each Council Member being a 

member of the Executive for their Member Council (where such a governance structure exists 

at a Member Council).

1.2. Member Councils may appoint another named elected Representative to act as a substitute for 

either of their appointed GRWP Representatives on the occasions where either of their 

appointed Representatives is unable to attend a GRWP Board meeting. 

1.3. Any such substitute Representative may speak and vote at meetings.

1.4. Other individuals (such as guest speakers) may be permitted to attend meetings provided they 

have received a prior written invitation from the Chair.

Page 19



1.5. An invitation will be extended to Ubico Ltd and to member Councils’ key service providers to 

attend GRWP Board meetings. 

1.6. A record of attendance will be kept of all meetings of the GRWP Board. If a specific Member 

Council has failed to provide representation by any of its Representatives at two consecutive 

GRWP Board meetings, then the Chair shall raise the issue with the relevant Member Council’s 

elected GRWP Representatives and/or that Member Council’s Leader. 

1.7. The Chair (or Vice-Chair in the absence of the Chair) will invite Representatives to speak on 

items appearing on the each GRWP Board agenda. Representatives may speak only when 

invited by the Chair to do so.

1.8. The February GRWP Board meeting or whichever GRWP Board meeting occurs soonest after 

February in any year shall be deemed to be the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the GRWP 

Board.

Election of Chair and Vice Chair
1.9. A Chair and a Vice Chair of the GRWP Board will be appointed at the first AGM.  The Vice-Chair 

shall assume the role of Chair at the next following AGM and each following AGM thereafter 

and a new vice-chair shall be appointed. The Chair and Vice-Chair shall be elected only from 

Representatives of the Member Councils from time to time. 

1.10. The appointment of the first Chair of the GRWP at the first AGM and each new Vice-Chair at the 

first AGM and every AGM thereafter will be by election in accordance with paragraph 1.13 

hereof.

1.11. The Chair of the Officers Senior Managers Group (SMG) will introduce an item regarding the 

election of the Chair at the first AGM and the Vice-Chair at the first AGM and every AGM 

thereafter. Only appointed Representatives from the Council Members may vote at such 

elections.

1.12. The Chair of the SMG will invite nominations and seconders. They will then seek the willingness 

of nominees to stand for election as Chair and/or (as appropriate) Vice Chair.

1.13. Any Representative nominated for election as Chair and/or (as appropriate) Vice Chair must 

secure a majority of all Representatives present who are entitled to vote. 

1.14. In the absence of the Chair, the responsibilities of the Chair can be discharged by the Vice-Chair.

1.15. There is no requirement that the Representatives of any particular Member Council must hold 

the position of either of Chair or Vice-Chair.

1.16. If a Chair or Vice-Chair ceases to be their Member Council’s appointed Representative for any 

reason then they shall immediately relinquish the position of Chair or Vice Chair and a new 

Chair or Vice Chair will be appointed at the next meeting of the GRWP Board.  

1.17. The responsibilities of the Chair and Vice Chair are: 

Page 20



 to oversee arrangements intended to ensure that the GRWP delivers the 

Gloucestershire Resources and Waste Strategy;

 to facilitate effective consideration, discussion and decision of items at GRWP Board 

meetings and ensure good order is maintained;

 to act as an ambassador for the GRWP and to represent it, as appropriate, to 

stakeholders and the media. 

9. Meetings of the GRWP Board and Decision Making
1.1. Meetings of the GRWP Board shall be held at least four times each financial year. 

1.2. Such meetings will be hosted by the Chair’s council (the “Host Council”). The Host Council will 

issue to the Representatives and supporting officers from each of the Member Councils an 

electronic copy of the agenda for each such meeting and the minutes of the previous meeting 

at least five clear working days in advance of each meeting. 

1.3. Draft Minutes of GRWP Board meetings will be issued by the Host Council within ten clear 

working days following the relevant meeting. 

Special GRWP Board Meetings
1.4. The Chair may call a Special GRWP Board Meeting at any time in relation to the Functions of the 

GRWP set out above by giving not less than five clear working days notice.

1.5. Special Meetings may be called by not less than two Representatives writing to the Chair (or 

Vice Chair if the Chair’s position is vacant).  Such call shall set out the proposed date of the 

Special Meeting and the business to be considered at such Special Meeting, which must relate 

to the Functions of the GRWP. Opportunities for teleconferencing or video conferencing will be 

explored to minimise the burden of such Special Meetings and to facilitate attendance. 

Voting
1.6. Every question shall be determined by the voices of those voting Representatives present.

1.7. Only the appointed GRWP Representatives for each Member Council (or valid substituting 

Representative in the absence of the appointed Representative(s)) shall be entitled to vote at 

GRWP Board meetings. 

1.8. In the event of a tied vote, the Chair shall have the option to make a casting vote. Such casting 

vote cannot be used to create a tied situation. 

1.9. If a proposal on which a vote is held is likely to have a direct financial impact on a Member 

Council, then that proposal may only proceed if supported by the Representatives of the 

Member Council(s) affected.

1.10. Any Representative may request that votes are recorded. 

Page 21



10. Officer Support

Senior Managers Group
1.1. The GRWP will be supported by a Senior Managers Group (SMG). This group will consist of at 

least one senior officer from each Member Council. The Chair and Vice Chair of the SMG shall 

be from the same Member Councils as the Chair and Vice Chair of the GRWP Board.

1.2. The functions of the SMG are as follows:

 To develop a Joint Resources and Waste Strategy for Gloucestershire for consideration 

by the GRWP Board and, if approved, adoption by each Member Council);

 To prepare and deliver an annual GRWP action plan and communications plan;

 To prepare and monitor GRWP annual budgets;

 To prepare a GRWP forward plan for consideration by the GRWP Board;

 To prepare GRWP reports and recommendations for consideration by the GRWP Board;

 To ensure that any functions delegated to the GRWP by the Member Councils are 

discharged effectively and in accordance with these Terms of Reference.

1.3. The SMG will meet at least four times a year.

1.4. SMG meetings are informal with the aim of arriving at decisions by consensus, but always with 

the goal of delivering the Objectives and Functions of the GRWP set out above. 

1.5. The SMG will be supported by a “Partnership and Community Engagement Officer” to be 

employed by Gloucestershire County Council. Funding for the role will be provided through a 

combination of direct revenue funding by GCC and through its contribution to the Partnership 

and Communications Fund set out in paragraph 11. 

1.6. The SMG will oversee the work described in paragraph 1.7 to 1.11 carried out by the 

“Communications Working Group” and the work described in paragraphs 1.12 and 1.13 carried 

out by the “Gloucestershire Waste, Safety and Health Group”. Other task and finish groups may 

be commissioned by the SMG as necessary for the achievement of the GRWP Functions and 

Objectives set out above. 

Communications Working Group
1.7. A Communications Working Group (“CWG”) will be created by the SMG which shall be 

comprised at least one officer from each Member Council. This group will report to and work 

under the guidance of the SMG.

Page 22



1.8. The CWG will be responsible for the development, implementation and monitoring of the 

annual GRWP Communications Plan containing details of planned joint communications work to 

be undertaken.

1.9. The CWG will deliver communications campaigns under the “Gloucestershire Recycles” brand, 

with localised, district variations as appropriate. The purpose of such campaigns shall be to 

ensure that local campaigns are in keeping with and can benefit from the wider national 

campaigns delivered for government by WRAP (the Waste and Resources Action Programme).

1.10. The CWG will meet at least four times a year. 

1.11. Meetings of the CWG are informal with the aim of arriving at decisions by consensus.

Gloucestershire Waste, Safety and Health (GWASH) group
1.12. The Gloucestershire Waste, Safety and Health (GWASH) group will consist of at least one officer 

from each Member Council. This group will report to and work under the guidance of the SMG. 

Waste collection, street cleaning and waste treatment contractors working for the Member 

Councils will also be invited to attend GWASH group meetings.

1.13. Meetings of GWASH group are informal with the aim of arriving at decisions by consensus.

GRWP Reporting Structure
1.14. The reporting structure of the GRWP is as follows:

11. Funding
1.1. Each Member Council remains responsible for funding its own service costs.

1.2. A “Partnership and Communications Fund” (the Fund) will be generated and maintained in 

accordance with this paragraph 11 in order to enable the GRWP to support the Member 

Page 23



Councils in delivering the objectives set out in paragraph 6 hereto. This fund will be held by 

Gloucestershire County Council on behalf of the GRWP. 

1.3. Funding for the Fund will be generated by Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) allocating up to 

a £10,000 top slice from the discretionary Residual Waste Reduction Incentive Payments made 

by GCC to each of the other Member Councils to the fund. For each £10,000 top slice, a 

matching £10,000 payment will also be made by GCC into the Fund. 

1.4. The allocation of funding from the Fund will be decided by the GRWP Board as part of an annual 

action planning and communications planning process. The implementation of work agreed by 

the GRWP Board and related expenditure will be overseen by the SMG with regular progress 

reporting to the GRWP Board.

1.5. GCC will provide budget monitoring information to the SMG on at least a quarterly basis.

1.6. Should any other expenditure be agreed by the GRWP then the following formula shall be 

applied to determine the share of costs to be met by each Member Council:

WDA waste revenue budget
WDA share = (WDA waste revenue budget + Total WCAs waste revenue budget) x Total shared 

cost

WCA share = Total shared cost – WDA share
       Number of WCA Council members

Illustration: 

Joint project costing £50k

WDA waste budget £25m

Total combined WCAs waste budget £10m 

WDA share = £25,000,000 / (£25,000,000 + £10,000,000) x £50,000 =£35,714 

WCA share = £50,000 - £35,714 = £14,285 

Individual WCA share (assuming 6 WCAs with a combined budget of £10m) = 
£14,285/6 = £2,381 

(Figures used are for illustrative purposes and are not actual budget figures). 

12. Review
1.1. These Terms of Reference shall be reviewed and revised by the Member Councils if three or more 

Member Council’s send a request for such a review and revisions in writing to the Chair of the 
GRWP.

Page 24



Annex 1 – GRWP Objectives
The GRWP shall:

1. Help residents to live more sustainably by:

a. Providing information and advice on waste prevention and reuse;

b. Providing clear, consistent  information and advice on the recycling services that we 
provide;

c. Supporting local communities in their waste reduction efforts (such as supporting 
plastic free communities, repair and reuse initiatives, food redistribution schemes etc.);

d. Supporting local residents to reduce waste (by promoting food waste avoidance, home 
composting, the use of real nappies etc.).

2. Promote a circular economy by:

a. Providing recycling services for as many different material types as we can (through a 
combination of kerbside collections, bring systems and HRCs);

b. Providing kerbside recycling services that collect a consistent set of dry recyclable 
materials from households;

c. Providing recycling services that achieve high levels of material quality;

d. Only collecting materials for recycling where sustainable, auditable end use markets are 
in place;

e. Providing weekly, separate food waste collections; 

f. Providing separate collections for garden waste;

g. Working in partnership with GFirst LEP and other stakeholders to develop and support  
local markets for reuse, remanufacture and recycling;

h. Supporting local businesses to reduce, reuse and recycle their waste; and

i. Reducing household residual waste and recovering energy from the residual waste that 
we do collect.

3. Promote sustainable production by: 

a. Lobbying government for extended producer responsibility so that producers pay the 
full costs of managing materials (such as packaging) that they place on the market; and

b. Lobbying government for better, more resource efficient product design (so that 
materials are more durable and/or more easily recycled).

4. Improve local environmental quality by:

a. Developing communication campaigns to reduce litter and fly-tipping;

b. Sharing intelligence and best practice to tackle fly-tipping;

c. Working together to coordinate the cleaning of fast roads; and

Page 25



d. Working with our service providers to reduce the emissions associated with our 
operations. 

5. Deliver high quality and affordable local waste management services by:

a. Providing good customer service; 

b. Providing regular, clear service information;

c. Planning for future growth and development - working with planners and developers to 
provide efficient, easy to use collection services;

d. Procuring services and managing contracts effectively (and jointly where a business 
case exists);

e. Reviewing and planning for future waste collection, transfer, treatment and depot 
needs in a consistent and collaborative way in order to make best use of our assets;

f. Developing income generation and cost saving initiatives;

g. Prioritising Health, Safety and Environment management systems, regularly reviewing 
our performance;

h. Recruiting, retaining and developing staff with the skills, abilities and qualities required 
to meet our objectives.

6. Measure our progress by:

a. Developing a set of key waste management performance indicators that include not 
only  traditional weight based measures, but also carbon accounting measures;

b. Maintaining and seeking to continuously improve the collection and reporting of local 
authority collected waste data and performance trends;

c. Measuring and reporting  against Local Environmental Quality Measures;

d. Working with government to streamline and improve national reporting requirements;

e. Measuring and reporting contract and service delivery KPIs; and

f. Sharing data and performance information in an open and consistent way to facilitate 
benchmarking and continuous improvement.

Page 26



Appendix 2 – Decision Making Timeline

Authority Decision 
Cheltenham Borough Council To be confirmed
Cotswold District Council Council, 25th September 2019 
Forest of Dean District Council Council, 17th October 2019 
Gloucester City Council To be confirmed
Gloucestershire County Council Cabinet, 20th December 2019 
Stroud District Council Council, 20th February 2020
Tewkesbury Borough Council Council, 1st October 2019

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Management Accounts Monitoring Report 2019/20

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee Date 3 December 2019

Significant 
Decision

No

Responsible 
Officers

Wayne Lewis, Head of Gloucestershire Joint Waste Team 
(01452 425504),  wayne.lewis@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Main Consultees None

Purpose of Report The report sets out:

 The financial performance of the individual authorities within 
the JWC against their approved annual budget for the first  6 
months of the current financial year;  

 The combined position across authorities.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Committee:
a) Notes the financial performance as contained in this report.
b) Notes that the final recharge of costs to partners will be 

raised when the actual employee costs and shared costs 
are available, which should be during January 2020

Resource 
Implications

Disposal Authority:
Gloucestershire County Council £563,000 Overspend

Collection Authorities:
Cheltenham Borough Council £104,000 Overspend
Cotswold District Council £139,000 Overspend
Forest of Dean District Council £0 Balanced Budget
Tewkesbury Borough Council £177,000 Overspend

£420,000

Combined budget forecast £983,000 Overspend

Each Council is responsible for its own budget and managing any 
overspend. The commentary explaining the above revenue 
forecast positions can be found within the below report. 

1. Background 

1.1.When the Joint Waste Committee was formed it was agreed that budget setting and 
service charges are retained decisions for the individual authorities within the partnership.

Page 29

Agenda Item 8



  
1.2.The operational budgets for waste disposal, waste collection and street cleaning remain 

with their respective authority and are managed with the support of officers within the Joint 
Waste Team.

  
1.3.The majority of the operational budget consists of payments to contractors: 

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) contracts include Urbaser Balfour Beatty and 
Enovert for waste treatment and disposal and the local authority company Ubico for 
Household Recycling Centres; Forest of Dean District Council (FODDC) contracts include 
Biffa for waste collection and street cleaning; whilst Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC), 
Cotswold District Council (CDC) and Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC) waste collection 
and street cleaning services are provided by Ubico.

1.4.As GCC is the Administering Authority for the Joint Waste Committee, budgets associated 
with supporting the Joint Waste Committee are reported within their figures.  Staffing costs 
for the Joint Waste Team are the largest element of this budget.  These are transferred 
from each partner organisation’s budget to the Administering Authority on a quarterly basis.

2. Current Financial Position

2.1.The combined revenue budget for GCC, CBC, CDC, FODDC and TBC is shown at 
Appendix 1. The current forecast year end revenue position is an overspend of £983,000 
(2.23% of the net budget). This is based on monitoring forecasts made in October and 
actual financial transactions to the end of September 2019.

3. Waste Disposal Costs

3.1.Appendix 2 shows Gloucestershire County Council revenue budget. The forecast outturn 
for the waste disposal is an overspend of £563,000.

3.2.Waste treatment is forecast to overspend by £189,000 due to a higher amount of green 
waste and the continued processing of CDC’s food and garden waste by in-vessel 
composting (IVC). 

3.3.Household Recycling Centres (HRCs) are forecast to overspend by £159,000. This is due 
to a combination of additional costs, mainly arising from the Ubico contract for the 
management of the HRCs, and a short fall of income from the sale of materials, such as 
metals, textiles and cardboard. As HRC materials income fluctuates throughout the year, 
this is our best current forecast. Material prices may improve or decline further as a result 
of global trading conditions.

3.4.Recycling credits and incentive payments are forecast to overspend by £340,000.

3.5.Bulking, haulage and tipping away is forecast to underspend by £81,000 as a result of the 
delayed start of Javelin Park.

3.6.Closed landfill sites are forecast to overspend by £21,000 due to the cost of a survey at 
Fosse to investigate future site management options.

3.7.Management costs are forecast to overspend by £19,000.  The majority of this cost relates 
to the consultant’s review of future waste partnership working in Gloucestershire.

3.8.Staffing costs are forecast to underspend by £65,000 due to vacancies.

4. Waste Collection Costs

4.1.Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC)

Page 30



4.1.1. The CBC revenue budget at Appendix 3 forecasts an overspend of £104,000 and the 
following is the detail behind some of the high level figures.

4.1.2. A savings target of £200,000 was included within the waste and recycling services 
budget to be achieved in 2019/20 through service redesign, efficiencies and 
investment in new vehicles.  This is a joint target between CBC and Ubico, progress 
has been made to identify potential savings and a great deal of work has been 
undertaken. Some efficiencies/service delivery changes have been made during the 
first two quarters of 2019/20. However, any saving generated by these changes has 
been offset by an additional refuse round that was introduced in June 2019.

4.1.3. Delays in procurement/purchase of vehicles operated by Ubico has resulted in a 
lower asset charge than budgeted to Ubico from CBC.  Due to the significant value of 
the vehicles scheduled for replacement in 2019/20 that have been delayed, an 
underspend of £215,000 will occur during 2019/20.  This is simply down to timing of 
the vehicle purchases and will not continue into 2020/21.

4.1.4. Recycling Credits income, which is received from Gloucestershire County Council, is 
anticipated to have a shortfall of £60,000.  This is due to the lower than budgeted 
tonnages of recycling material being collected (particularly glass which weighs the 
heaviest) via the kerbside recycling collection service.

4.1.5. Recycling wood disposal costs are anticipated to be overspent by £50,000. This is 
due to a higher than budgeted volume of wood disposals and delays in procurement 
of a new wood disposal contract, which has now been awarded to a contractor.

4.1.6. Income from garden and bulky waste collections is higher than budgeted due to more 
customers than budgeted for taking up the service.  This is resulting in a higher than 
budget surplus of by £45,000.  However this is being offset by lower than budget 
income from the trade waste service, a shortfall of £40,000 against budget.

4.2.Cotswold District Council (CDC)

4.2.1. CDC’s revenue budget at Appendix 4 shows a forecast overspend of £139,000.

4.2.2. An overspend of £23,000 is forecast on household waste collection due to increased 
maintenance and hire fleet due to breakdowns on older vehicles. 

4.2.3. Income from the garden waste collection scheme is forecast to be £18,000 higher 
than budget as a result of an increased number of subscriptions.

4.2.4. Recycling collection schemes is forecast to overspend by £134,000.  This is due to a 
combination of an overspend on the purchase or waste receptacles, increased costs 
of fleet maintenance and vehicle hire and an underachievement of income of 
£50,000 on the sale of recyclates due to low cardboard prices.

4.3.Forest of Dean District Council (FODDC)

4.3.1. FODDC, at Appendix 5, currently forecasts a balanced budget.

4.4.Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC)

4.4.1. TBC revenue budget at Appendix 6 shows the predicted year end overspend is 
£177,000 for the delivery of all waste services.

Page 31



4.4.2. The Ubico contract for delivery of waste and recycling services is currently £113,000 
overspent.  £50,000 of this is for an increase in the depot recharge to TBC which was 
not agreed through the budget setting process and is now being funded out of 
reserves. The remaining £63,000 is mostly related to employee costs overspends 
through sickness and vacancies requiring additional cover. 

4.4.3. TBC is also seeing a loss on budgeted income in respect of recycling credits of 
£92,000 due to lower than predicted levels of recycling being collected and more 
material being rejected at the materials recycling facility (MRF).  We are working with 
Suez to try to manage the level of rejected material.

4.4.4. These overspends are being partially offset by additional income than budget from 
garden waste subscriptions, bulky waste collections and trade waste collections.

5. Final Accounts at Dissolution of the Joint Waste Committee

5.1.The draft shared costs of the partnership for the period 1st April 2019 to 13th December 
2019 are shown at Appendix 7.

5.2.The final recharge of costs to partners will be raised when the actual employee costs and 
shared costs are available, which should be during January 2020. 

Page 32



Appendix 1 – Total Revenue Budget Summary across all JWC partners

Head of Service: Wayne Lewis Analysis of progress to: 30/09/2019

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Joint Waste Management Unit
  Gross Expenditure 324 249 200 -49 207 -117
  Income -324 -81 -83 -2 -207 117
  Net Expenditure 0 168 117 -51 0 0
TOTAL - GJWP 0 168 117 -51 0 0

Waste Disposal
Royalty Payments -290 -145 -231 -86 -290 0
Waste Treatment 20,218 10,319 6,126 -4,193 20,407 189
Household Recycling Centres
  Gross Expenditure 3,300 1,817 2,277 460 3,288 -12
  Income -691 -393 -222 171 -520 171
  Net Expenditure 2,609 1,424 2,055 631 2,768 159
Recycling Credits 4,267 2,044 934 -1,110 4,607 340
Bulking, Haulage & Tipping Away
  Gross Expenditure 2,233 1,167 748 -419 2,152 -81
  Income -50 -50 -50 0 -50 0
  Net Expenditure 2,183 1,117 698 -419 2,102 -81
Closed Landfill Sites 29 10 4 -6 50 21
Management Costs
  Gross Expenditure 4 1 20 19 23 19
  Income -8 0 0 0 -8 0
  Net Expenditure -4 1 20 19 15 19
Waste Projects
  Gross Expenditure 50 27 22 -5 52 2
  Income 0 0 0 0 0 0
  Net Expenditure 50 27 22 -5 52 2
Marketing Promotions - Waste 50 20 1 -19 29 -21
TOTAL - WASTE DISPOSAL 29,112 14,817 9,629 -5,188 29,740 628

Waste Collection 0
Household Waste 5,077 2,600 3,392 792 5,062 -15
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 108 55 51 -4 108 0
  Income -174 -79 -104 -25 -200 -26
  Net Expenditure -66 -24 -53 -29 -92 -26
Food/Organic Waste
  Gross Expenditure 496 252 254 2 501 5
  Income 0 0 0 0 0 0
  Net Expenditure 496 252 254 2 501 5
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 2,917 1,579 1,602 23 2,918 1
  Income -2,789 -2,445 -2,546 -101 -2,868 -79
  Net Expenditure 128 -866 -944 -78 50 -78
Recycling Centres
  Gross Expenditure 464 232 231 -1 443 -21
  Income -163 -82 -92 -10 -164 -1
  Net Expenditure 301 150 139 -11 279 -22
Bring Sites
  Gross Expenditure 340 170 179 9 299 -41
  Income -77 -37 -30 7 -79 -2
  Net Expenditure 263 133 149 16 220 -43
Recycling Collection Schemes
  Gross Expenditure 6,859 3,521 3,580 59 6,984 125
  Income -2,888 -1,342 -1,219 123 -2,676 212
  Net Expenditure 3,971 2,179 2,361 182 4,308 337
Bulking of Recyclables
  Gross Expenditure 403 201 202 1 430 27
  Income -580 -290 -169 121 -566 14
  Net Expenditure -177 -89 33 122 -136 41
Trade Waste
  Gross Expenditure 961 480 479 -1 926 -35
  Income -931 -605 -572 33 -875 56
  Net Expenditure 30 -125 -93 32 51 21
Recycling Schemes Marketing 30 9 102 93 243 213
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 10,053 4,219 5,340 1,121 10,486 433

Street Cleaning 3,078 1,654 1,655 1 3,078 0

Central Costs
Central Support Costs/Internal Client Teams 579 0 0 0 579 0
JWT Staffing Costs 673 208 170 -38 595 -78
Depreciation 553 84 84 0 553 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 1,805 292 254 -38 1,727 -78

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 44,048 21,150 16,995 -4,155 45,031 983

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2019/20

Page 33



Appendix 2 – Gloucestershire County Council Revenue Budget Summary

Partner: Gloucestershire County Council Analysis of progress to: 30/09/2019

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Joint Waste Management Unit
  Gross Expenditure 324 249 200 -49 207 -117
  Income -324 -81 -83 -2 -207 117
  Net Expenditure 0 168 117 -51 0 0
TOTAL - GJWP 0 168 117 -51 0 0

Waste Disposal
Royalty Payments -290 -145 -231 -86 -290 0
Waste Treatment 20,218 10,319 6,126 -4,193 20,407 189
Household Recycling Centres
  Gross Expenditure 3,300 1,817 2,277 460 3,288 -12
  Income -691 -393 -222 171 -520 171
  Net Expenditure 2,609 1,424 2,055 631 2,768 159
Recycling Credits 4,267 2,044 934 -1,110 4,607 340
Bulking, Haulage & Tipping Away
  Gross Expenditure 2,233 1,167 748 -419 2,152 -81
  Income -50 -50 -50 0 -50 0
  Net Expenditure 2,183 1,117 698 -419 2,102 -81
Closed Landfill Sites 29 10 4 -6 50 21
Management Costs
  Gross Expenditure 4 1 20 19 23 19
  Income -8 0 0 0 -8 0
  Net Expenditure -4 1 20 19 15 19
Waste Projects
  Gross Expenditure 50 27 22 -5 52 2
  Income 0 0 0 0 0 0
  Net Expenditure 50 27 22 -5 52 2
Marketing Promotions - Waste 50 20 1 -19 29 -21
TOTAL - WASTE DISPOSAL 29,112 14,817 9,629 -5,188 29,740 628

Central Costs
Central Support Costs/Internal Client Teams 579 0 0 0 579 0
JWT Staffing Costs 360 90 62 -28 295 -65
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 939 90 62 -28 874 -65

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 30,051 15,075 9,808 -5,267 30,614 563

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2019/20

Page 34



Appendix 3 – Cheltenham Borough Council Revenue Budget Summary

Partner: Cheltenham Borough Council Analysis of progress to: 30/09/2019

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Waste Collection
Household Waste 1,329 664 1,451 787 1,254 -75
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 27 14 10 -4 27 0
  Income -48 -24 -33 -9 -67 -19
  Net Expenditure -21 -10 -23 -13 -40 -19
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 536 268 299 31 521 -15
  Income -725 -363 -390 -27 -749 -24
  Net Expenditure -189 -95 -91 4 -228 -39
Recycling Centres
  Gross Expenditure 464 232 231 -1 443 -21
  Income -163 -82 -92 -10 -164 -1
  Net Expenditure 301 150 139 -11 279 -22
Bring Sites
  Gross Expenditure 187 93 93 0 146 -41
  Income -63 -31 -24 7 -65 -2
  Net Expenditure 124 62 69 7 81 -43
Recycling Collection Schemes
  Gross Expenditure 2,376 1,188 1,167 -21 2,360 -16
  Income -545 -273 -187 86 -474 71
  Net Expenditure 1,831 915 980 65 1,886 55
Bulking of Recyclables
  Gross Expenditure 403 201 202 1 430 27
  Income -580 -290 -169 121 -566 14
  Net Expenditure -177 -89 33 122 -136 41
Trade Waste
  Gross Expenditure 644 322 315 -7 598 -46
  Income -650 -325 -291 34 -589 61
  Net Expenditure -6 -3 24 27 9 15
Recycling Schemes Marketing & Management -35 -17 93 110 178 213
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 3,157 1,577 2,675 1,098 3,283 126

Street Cleaning 894 447 426 -21 878 -16

Central Costs
Central Support Costs/Internal Client Teams 0 0 0 0 0 0
JWT Staffing Costs 33 16 11 -5 27 -6
Depreciation 71 84 84 0 71 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 104 100 95 -5 98 -6

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 4,155 2,124 3,196 1,072 4,259 104

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2019/20

Page 35



Appendix 4 – Cotswold District Council

Partner: Cotswold District Council Analysis of progress to: 30/09/2019

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Waste Collection
Household Waste 1,227 748 759 11 1,250 23
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 40 20 19 -1 40 0
  Income -36 -18 -28 -10 -36 0
  Net Expenditure 4 2 -9 -11 4 0
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 1,474 894 887 -7 1,474 0
  Income -639 -632 -656 -24 -657 -18
  Net Expenditure 835 262 231 -31 817 -18
Recycling Collection Schemes
  Gross Expenditure 1,866 1,118 1,192 74 1,950 84
  Income -1,020 -460 -469 -9 -970 50
  Net Expenditure 846 658 723 65 980 134
Recycling Schemes Marketing 13 6 1 -5 13 0
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 2,925 1,676 1,705 29 3,064 139

Street Cleaning 1,130 680 684 4 1,130 0

Central Costs
Central Support Costs/Internal Client Teams 0 0 0 0 0 0
JWT Staffing Costs 59 26 28 2 59 0
Depreciation 21 0 0 0 21 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 80 26 28 2 80 0

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 4,135 2,382 2,417 35 4,274 139

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2019/20

 

Page 36



Appendix 5 – Forest of Dean District Council Revenue Budget Summary

Partner: Forest of Dean District Council Analysis of progress to: 30/09/2019

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Waste Collection
Household Waste 1,546 713 698 -15 1,546 0
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 41 21 22 1 41 0
  Income -40 -20 -22 -2 -40 0
  Net Expenditure 1 1 0 -1 1 0
Food/Organic Waste
  Gross Expenditure 8 8 7 -1 8 0
  Income 0 0 0 0 0 0
  Net Expenditure 8 8 7 -1 8 0
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 469 198 189 -9 469 0
  Income -608 -608 -621 -13 -608 0
  Net Expenditure -139 -410 -432 -22 -139 0
Bring Sites
  Gross Expenditure 153 77 86 9 153 0
  Income -14 -6 -6 0 -14 0
  Net Expenditure 139 71 80 9 139 0
Recycling Collection Schemes 0
  Gross Expenditure 1,267 540 518 -22 1,267 0
  Income -634 -264 -277 -13 -634 0
  Net Expenditure 633 276 241 -35 633 0
Recycling Schemes Marketing 37 19 7 -12 37 0
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 2,225 678 601 -77 2,225 0

Street Cleaning 558 279 289 10 558 0

Central Costs
Central Support Costs/Internal Client Teams 0 0 0 0 0 0
JWT Staffing Costs 140 35 32 -3 140 0
Depreciation 397 0 0 0 397 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 537 35 32 -3 537 0

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 3,320 992 922 -70 3,320 0

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2019/20

Page 37



Appendix 6 – Tewkesbury Borough Council Revenue Budget Summary

Partner: Tewkesbury Borough Council Analysis of progress to: 30/09/2019

2 3 4 5 6
Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year

Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Waste Collection
Household Waste 975 475 484 9 1,012 37
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 0 0
  Income -50 -17 -21 -4 -57 -7
  Net Expenditure -50 -17 -21 -4 -57 -7
Food/Organic Waste
  Gross Expenditure 488 244 247 3 493 5
  Income 0 0
  Net Expenditure 488 244 247 3 493 5
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 438 219 227 8 454 16
  Income -817 -842 -879 -37 -854 -37
  Net Expenditure -379 -623 -652 -29 -400 -21
Recycling Collection Schemes 0
  Gross Expenditure 1,350 675 703 28 1,407 57
  Income -689 -345 -286 59 -598 91
  Net Expenditure 661 330 417 87 809 148
Trade Waste
  Gross Expenditure 317 158 164 6 328 11
  Income -281 -280 -281 -1 -286 -5
  Net Expenditure 36 -122 -117 5 42 6
Recycling Schemes Marketing 15 1 1 0 15 0
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 1,746 288 359 71 1,914 168

Street Cleaning 496 248 256 8 512 16

Central Costs
Central Support Costs/Internal Client Teams 0 0 0 0 0 0
JWT Staffing Costs 81 41 37 -4 74 -7
Depreciation 64 0 0 0 64 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 145 41 37 -4 138 -7

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 2,387 577 652 75 2,564 177

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2019/20

Page 38



Appendix 7 Estimated Joint Waste Committee Shared Costs to 13/12/19

 Estimated Joint Waste Committee Shared Costs 01/04/19 to 13/12/19       
          
  £        

 Head of Service 62,886        

 Democratic Services support 3,000        

 Finance support 2,107        

 
Other Shared Costs e.g. SWWRF 
subscription 123        

 Total shared costs 68,116        

 GCC Saving Contribution 10,533        

 Amended base to be shared 57,583        
         
          

 
40%/60% Share GCC: District Councils 
(DCs)

GCC
£

 4 District Councils
£ each       

 Share of amended base 23,035 8,637       
 GCC Saving Contribution 10,533        
 Share of Costs 33,568 8,637       
          
          

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



ACTION PLAN UPDATE 

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee Date 3 December 2019

Significant 
Decision

No

Responsible 
Officers

Wayne Lewis, Head of Joint Waste Team, 01452 425504, 
wayne.lewis@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Main Consultees None

Purpose of Report The purpose of this report is to update members on progress of the 
2018/21 actions and to agree the distribution of any incomplete or 
ongoing actions amongst the partner councils following the closure of 
the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee on 13th December 2020.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Committee:

a)  Notes the progress of the current (2018/21) action plan;

b) Agrees the suggested distribution of actions amongst partner 
councils set out in appendix 1.

Resource 
Implications

None.  The current revenue budget position for each of the partners is 
reported separately on today’s agenda.

1. Action plan progress

1.1 This report provides an update on the progress of the 2018/21 action plan. The 
action plan was adopted by the JWC in February 2019 and Appendix 1 provides a 
summary of progress to November 2019

1.2 Good progress has been made on the review of current partnership working 
arrangements, with a proposal for a new Resources and Waste Partnership and a 
proposal for new incentive funding agreements between districts and the county 

Page 41

Agenda Item 9

mailto:wayne.lewis@gloucestershire.gov.uk


council considered by the GJWC at its October 2019 meeting. Detailed Terms of 
Reference for the proposed new partnership are set out elsewhere on today’s 
agenda. Both the new partnership proposal and the new incentive funding 
agreements will be considered by Cabinet at the County Council on 20th 
December. 

1.3 Little progress has been made in developing a Service Integration Route map in 
light of the uncertainty this year on the future of the partnership. A review of the 
countywide joint waste strategy has similarly been delayed, although the GJWC 
did offer a comprehensive response to Government consultations on the national 
resources and waste strategy. 

1.4 A number of procurement and mobilisation projects have been delivered: waste 
deliveries to the new Energy from Waste facility commenced over the summer, 
with mobilisation activities now substantially completed. The new street cleaning 
contract mobilised successfully in the Forest of Dean in April and the county’s 
garden waste composting contracts have recently been awarded. 

1.5 Community engagement and communications work continues, with the Joint 
Waste Team supporting local plastic free initiatives and also the national Recycle 
week in September. The anti-litter “Love your Forest” continues to grow. A 
comprehensive communication campaign has also been developed to support the 
launch of the new and improved recycling collection service across Cotswold D.C 
from next March.

2. Distribution of ongoing tasks

2.1 Appendix 1 also sets out the proposed apportionment of action plan tasks from 13th 
December when the joint waste committee will end. A number of tasks will transfer to 
the proposed new Resources and Waste Partnership (subject to Gloucestershire local 
authorities opting to join the said partnership). However, as the new partnership will not 
have any legal status, waste management functions and responsibilities will revert to 
the individual local authorities and as such responsibility for a number of tasks within 
the GJWC action plan will also revert to those authorities. Members are asked to review 
and agree the apportionment of tasks set out in appendix 1.  

3. Updates from Non-voting Partners

3.1 Gloucester City Council and Stroud District Council will be invited to provide a 
verbal update at the meeting.

Page 42



Appendix 1

Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee Key

Action Plan - 2019/22 Red Major Issues or delays.

Amber Minor issues or delays.

Green Proceeding to plan.

Project Affecting   Objective and /or Outcomes

Target 

completion 

date

Joint Waste Committee Update - December '19 RAG Status

Action 

Complete 

Y/N

Transfer to 

respective 

Partner/ Future 

Partnership

1

1.1 Service Integration Routemap. All
To develop a preferred option and pathway to service 

integration.
Oct-19

Recent CDC service review provides a broad template for 

future reviews. This aim/project will need to be revisited as 

part of the current review of waste partnership working.

N

To be reviewed 

by future 

partnership

1.2
Continue to encourage GCiC and SDC 

to join the JWC.
All

To develop an overall strategy and optimised delivery 

framework for  efficient, effective and inclusive resource 

management in Gloucestershire.  

Ongoing

The current review of waste partnership working supported by 

Local Partnerships has involved discussions with both 

Gloucester City and Stroud D.C, with the aim of all Glos local 

authorities being part of a future waste partnership.

N Not Applicable 

1.3

Review and renew the Gloucestershire 

Joint Municipal Waste Management 

Strategy (GJMWMS). 

All
To agree a vision, priorities and targets for municipal 

waste management in Gloucestershire beyond Mar 2020.
Feb-20

Work will commence following the outcome of the current 

review of waste partnership working within Gloucestershire, 

also building upon themes of the  recent national resources 

and waste strategy consultations. Scoping work will 

commence along with the new partnership formation.

N

Transfer to new 

partnership - 

New strategy to 

be developed

1.4
Review partnership IAA, payments and 

funding arrangements.
All

To ensure that governance and funding arrangements 

continue to support the achievement of the partnerships' 

vision, priorities and targets. To continue to provide good 

value for money for partner councils.

Oct-20

A GJWC workshop in Feb 2019 agreed a broad direction of 

travel. This has been developed further by recent work by 

Local Partnerships, whose  report has been circulated to all 

Glos local authorities. Terms of reference for a new 

partnership drafted and each Gloucestershire local authority 

invited to join.

Y

Transfer to new 

Partnership -  

ToR developed

1.5

Review the National Waste and 

Resources Strategy, responding to 

related consultations where relevant.

All

To ensure the Gloucestershire waste strategy is aligned 

with national priorities and that Gloucestershire has a 

voice in helping to shape these priorities.

Mar-22

GJWC responses submitted for the recent DEFRA 

consultations on Consistency, Extended Producer 

Responsibility for Packaging and a Deposit Return System. A 

further round of detailed consultations will be conducted by 

DEFRA in early 2020.

Y

Transfer to new 

partnership - 

ongoing role to 

respond to 

national plans 

and priorities.

2

2.1

Review current depot, transfer and HRC 

provision and assess future 

requirements.

All

To assess current premises and identify future 

infrastructure requirements needed to meet future 

GJWMS priorities and targets.

Mar-21

Initial consideration is being given to future HRC provision, 

with a section of the revised Local Developer Guide updated 

to include HRC capacity contributions. Full project scoping will 

commence once the current workload priorities have been 

delivered. CBC has convened a meeting of stakeholders to 

discuss a potential future strategic waste site in the wider 

Cheltenham area. Work is at an early stage.

N
Transfer to new 

partnership

3

3.1

Procurement of a replacement 

composting contract for garden waste 

collected in Gloucestershire.

All
New contract to compost garden waste. To include 

bulking and haulage where required.
Jan-20

Procurement has been completed and new contracts will 

commence February 2020.
Y Transfer to GCC

Strategic Direction

Infrastructure

Procurement

P
age 43



3.2 Purchase HRC mobile compactors. GCC
To replace compactors at Oak Quarry, Wingmoor and 

(subject to capital bid) Fosse Cross HRCs.
Mar-20

Oak Quarry HRC site conversion completed Apr 19. 

Wingmoor Farm HRC conversion delayed until the lease area 

with Enovert is varied and planning permission obtained for 

site alterations  Indicatively Wingmoor will be completed early 

summer 2020.  Fosse will remain with static waste compaction 

but refurbishment works including new concreting is required 

leading to an anticipated temporary site closure early 2020.

N Transfer to GCC

3.3 Food waste contract procurement. GCC

To ensure that a food waste recycling contract remains in 

place beyond the end of current contract term.  To 

include bulking and haulage where required.

Sep-21 To commence mid 2020. N Transfer to GCC

3.4

Reach decision on contract extensions 

for sale of recyclable materials from 

HRC sites.

GCC
To ensure continued arrangements for HRC recyclate 

sales. 
Aug-20 To commence early 2020. N Transfer to GCC

3.5
Dry recycling material transfer 

extension/procurement.
TBC

To ensure that there are adequate arrangements in place 

for the transfer of mixed dry recycling to the MRF beyond 

the end of the current contract term.

Apr-19

The current contract for Transfer with Ubico Ltd at Swindon 

Road Depot has been extended until 31 March 2020.  A 

review of the transfer contract will take place in line with the 

Suez MRF contract which expires on 31 March 2021 but has 

option to extend for up to 3 years.     

Ongoing Transfer to TBC

3.6
Make arrangements  for the continued 

monitoring of closed landfill sites.
GCC

To ensure monitoring remains in place following the end 

of the current waste disposal services contract.
Jan-20 Current arrangements in place with Enovert. Ongoing Transfer to GCC

3.7
Make arrangements for the collection 

and disposal of clinical waste.
All

To ensure collection and disposal arrangements remain 

in place for clinical waste following the end of the current 

waste disposal services contract.

Jan-20
Arrangements have been made as part of the residual waste 

treatment contract with UBB.
Y Transfer to GCC

3.8

Ensure arrangements remain in place 

for the collection of sharps from 

community pharmacies.

All

To ensure collection and disposal arrangements remain 

in place for sharps following the end of funding for this 

service by the NHS.

Apr-19
The NHS have confirmed that they will continue to include 

sharps disposal within their new services contract.
Y Transfer to GCC

4

4.1

Review options for dewatering and 

recycling street sweepings and gulley 

waste. 

All
To assess and, if economically viable, arrange recycling 

of street sweepings and gulley waste.   
Mar-20

Discussions are being held with UBB as part of the new 

residual waste treatment contract.
N Transfer to GCC

4.2

To review and establish how new 

developments that cross boundaries will 

be serviced.

TBC

To undertake a business case for a consistent service in 

the JCS area around Cheltenham, which crosses district 

boundaries.  To ensure that the preferred collection 

service is aligned with wider GJWC work on service 

integration.

Oct-19

Work to commence this year with planning teams to identify 

the development area and boundaries as well as collection 

options with the potential for collaborative working across the 

councils and mutual waste collections contractor. 

N
Transfer to TBC 

& CBC

4.3

Support CDC in implementing new 

waste and recycling collection service in 

2019.

CDC

To implement the recommendations of the collection 

service options appraisal, by overseeing the 

implementation of new waste and recycling collection 

services by Ubico in Cotswold D.C

Mar-20

Vehicle and receptacle orders in place and Comms Plan being 

finalised.  Launch date has been moved to Spring to allow for 

introduction of In-Cab Technology which will be beneficial in 

minimising collection problems at the beginning of the new 

service. Preparations being made for launch on 18th March 

2020.

N Transfer to CDC

4.4
Review HRCs to explore service 

efficiency opportunities.
GCC 

Devise and implement further efficiencies at HRCs in 

order to contribute  to GCC's wider savings programme.
Jun-19

Ongoing. GCC and Ubico continue to explore operational 

efficiencies.  A trial of waste bulking has been completed with 

results to be reviewed and recommendations by Ubico to 

follow.

Ongoing Transfer to GCC

4.5 Residual waste composition analysis. GCC
Four-season analysis of kerbside and HRC residual 

waste commencing summer 2018.
Nov-19 All sampling has now been completed. Awaiting final report. N Transfer to GCC

4.6
Mobilisation of Javelin Park Energy from 

Waste contract.
GCC

To ensure that the contract is mobilised on time and in 

line with the contract requirements. 
Ongoing

Mobilisation meeting frequency reduced to quarterly. Refining 

of processes continues, but feedback from operators has 

been very positive.

N Transfer to GCC

Service Development, Efficiency and Improvement

P
age 44



4.7
Mobilisation of Forest of Dean Street 

Cleaning Contract.
FoDDC To ensure a smooth mobilisation of the new contract. Apr-19

Mobilisation project completed in readiness for the contract 

start date of 1 April 2019.  Biffa has restructured the existing 

team and recruited additional employees to fulfil the 

requirements of the contract. New vehicles have been 

procured. A competition was run under the "Love Your Forest" 

banner with local school children to design artwork with anti-

littering messages for the livery of the vehicles and artwork 

now on vehicles.  

Y N/A - Completed

4.8
Coordinate Forest of Dean community 

panel on waste and recycling
FoDDC

To seek local residents views on current and future waste 

and recycling service priorities
Ongoing

The second Waste and Recycling Community Panel was held 

in Feb 19 and attended by 9 members of the public.  The 

meeting focused on the different types of waste 

communications undertaken by FoDDC such as direct mail 

(i.e. waste calendars, leaflets, surveys, letters about incorrect 

presentation of waste), vehicle livery, advertising, schools 

engagement and projects to inform the panel and give them 

opportunity to comment.

Y

Transfer to FOD - 

ongoing work 

with the panel

4.9
Assess the feasibility of introducing 

reuse shops at HRCs
GCC

To reduce waste and increase reuse by providing reuse 

shops at HRC
Oct-20

New reuse shop opened at Oak Quarry HRC in Apr19.  GCC 

to pilot the outsourcing of the operation of Fosse and Oak 

reuse shops to third sector, expected to commence Spring 

2020.  The introduction of a reuse shop at Pyke Quarry HRC 

resticted by a limited site footprint  and is not being 

progressed at this time.

N Transfer to GCC

4.10
Review of the trade waste service to 

ensure viable commercial operation
TBC

Present findings and gain support for service 

improvements
Oct-19

Ubico are preparing a paper for Ubico board to look at a 

Countywide approach to trade waste services. TBC are 

carrying out a specific project to increase the current 

customer base. 

N Transfer toTBC

4.11

Investigate the collection of WEEE (and 

other possible recyclables) at the 

kerbside. 

TBC
Investigate the options for kerbside collection with a view 

to increasing the capture rate of WEEE.
Mar-20

Project carried over from 18-19. The RCVs can be fitted with 

cages for the collection of WEEE but will commence when the 

vehicles are not required to tip on landfill due to potential for 

damage. 

N Transfer toTBC

4.12 Street cleaning operational review. TBC
To improve the effectiveness of street cleansing in the 

borough.
Mar-20

A review of the current service is underway with Ubico. Data 

collection and drafting of schedlues taking place for testing 

and then roll out this year. 

N Transfer toTBC

5

5.1

Communications campaign highlighting 

the importance of separating the right 

materials for recycling.

All
Maintaining high quality recyclable materials and 

minimising contamination.
Mar-20

The importance of seperating out recycling materials and 

presenting appropriately will be a big part of the comms to 

support the CDC service redesign implementation.  At FOD 

the annual calendar mailing went out to all residents in 

February which included instructional information to separate 

out recycling. National recycle week tool place at the end of 

September, which JWT supported locally.

Ongoing
Transfer to new 

partnership

5.2
Communications campaign to promote 

food waste prevention and recycling.
All

Encourage residents to reduce food waste, maintain high 

capture rates of food waste for recycling and minimise 

the amount of food waste within the residual waste 

stream.

Mar-20

Food waste prevention and recycling will be included as part 

of the comms to support the CDC service redesign 

implementation. Christmas campaign will focus on food waste. 

Ongoing
Transfer to new 

partnership

5.3

Communications campaign to promote 

the reduction and recycling of plastic 

waste.

All

Encourage residents to reduce consumption of single-use 

plastics, maintain high capture rates of plastic for 

recycling and minimise the amount of plastic materials 

within the residual waste stream.

Mar-20

Plastics reduction and recycling will be included as part of the 

comms to support the CDC service redesign implementation. 

At FODDC work has been continuing on pilot project 'Plastic 

Free Coleford' with the Town Council and support also being 

provided to grassroots initiatives in Stow on the Wold that aim 

to reduce plastics.

Ongoing
Transfer to new 

partnership

5.4 Javelin Park communications. GCC
To ensure consistent and clear communications relating 

to the  operation of the facility.
Ongoing

A review of the Recycle For Gloucestershire website content 

is being undertaken. GCC and UBB comms are being 

reviewed. Proposals provided by UBB are being discussed 

and worked through

Ongoing Transfer to GCC

Communications and Behavioural Change

P
age 45



5.5 Continued promotion of real nappies. GCC

To provide information and support on the use of 

reusable nappies and to promote the uptake of the 

Gloucestershire Real Nappy voucher scheme.

Ongoing

This remains ongoing with the current arrangements until 

March 2020. A decision on the future approach will be taken 

prior to expiry of these arrangements.

Ongoing
Transfer to new 

partnership

5.6
Continued support for home and 

community composting.
GCC

To provide information and support on home and 

community composting and continue to make home 

composting bins available for purchase by 

Gloucestershire residents.

Ongoing

GCC maintains the existing network of Master Composters, 

and access to the Straights composting products continues to 

be provided via the RFG website. A 'free delivery' offer for 

compost bins has taken place throughout May.

Ongoing
Transfer to new 

partnership

5.7
Promote garden waste collection 

schemes in all districts.

CDC, 

FoDDC & 

TBC

To promote and sustain uptake in garden waste 

collection services.
Jun-19

Majority of promotions have already taken place in all districts 

and resulted in a sustained level of subscriptions compared 

with the previous year.

Ongoing
Transfer to new 

partnership

5.8
To build on the Love Your Forest anti-

litter campaign.
FoDDC

To develop and deliver an action plan to work with the 

community to change behaviour and reduce littering 

across the district. Wherever possible, to share and apply 

learning across the partnership.

Ongoing

Following on from the success of last year’s LYF Scout badge, 

a new Girlguiding badge has been launched this year to 

engage with younger people on the issues of litter.  In Q1, 

twenty one Scout and Girlguiding groups from across the 

district took part in the campaign (this equates to a reach of 

296 young people and 65 adult leaders/helpers).  All groups 

undertook a litter pick and the majority also received a visit 

from the ‘Trashconverter’ trailer (which swaps small treats for 

litter brought to it to reward positive behaviour) and/or one of 

the #LoveYourForest team to talk more about the problem of 

litter. This year’s car sticker competition was launched at the 

end of May and over 50 outlets received their car window 

stickers,  8 campaign articles appeared in the Forest Review.  

130 entries were received form the Year 5 and 6 poster 

competition for livery design of street cleansing vehicles. The 

Trashcoverter trailer is continuing to visit local events, primary 

and secondary schools to spread the anti-littering message 

still further.   Funding confirmed for 2020/21 campaign with a 

focus on on the go recycling and litter prevention

Y Transfer to FoD

5.9

Support the roll-out of new waste and 

recycling collection services in Cotswold 

D.C

CDC

To provide clear and timely information on any changes 

and enhancements to collection services so that any 

disruption from the service change is minimised and 

recycling performance is maximised.

Mar-20

Comms plan being overseen by Project Board and action plan 

being finalised. WRAP advisory support obtained by the JWT. 

Design work now largely complete and package of work will be 

ready to support the implementation of the new service in 

Spring 2020. Preparations being made for launch on 18th 

March 2020.

N Yes

5.10

Review and update the Recycle for 

Gloucestershire branding and 

communications materials.

All
To provide attractive, modern communication channels to 

promote our sustainable waste management messages.
Mar-20

Branding is being changed, in line with the new national 

brand, from 'Recycle for Gloucestershire' to 'Gloucestershire 

Recycles'. The website is being updated and future printed 

materials will feature the new brand.

Ongoing
Transfer to new 

partnership

6

6.10

Monitoring, reporting and continuous 

review of health and safety policy and 

practices of GJWC contractors and 

service providers.

All
To ensure safe working practices are in place and to 

establish common processes and best practice.
Ongoing

Ongoing with regular reporting through contract management 

meetings and quarterly Ubico ESPB meetings. The GWASH 

group continues to meet.

Ongoing

Transfer to 

individual 

councils. Joint 

GWASH group to 

be retained.

Safety, Health and Environmental impact of operations

P
age 46


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes , 18/06/2019 Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee
	Minutes , 08/10/2019 Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee

	7 Future Waste Partnership Terms of Reference
	8 Management Accounts Monitoring Report
	9 Service/Action Plan Update
	Copy of App 1 JWC Action Plan Update 03.12.19 (2)


